MAY 1.5 2013

No. 311147-III

 $_{\odot}$ $^{\beta}$

OTURE OF APPEALS DIVISION IU STATE OF WASHINGTON By manufacture and a state of the state of the

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JOEL GONZALEZ,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

CARL E. HUEBER WSBA No. 12453 COLLETTE C. LELAND WSBA No. 40686 WINSTON & CASHATT 601 West Riverside, Suite 1900 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 838-6131

Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

After three days of testimony by family members, the trial court commented that the bench trial of Joel Gonzalez (Joel)¹ in Columbia County Juvenile Court was "almost as close to a swearing contest as the Court will see from time to time." (VRP 447:13-24) Nevertheless, the trial court found the State had proven three counts of First Degree Rape of a Child, against Joel's younger cousin I.G. beyond a reasonable doubt. In making this determination, the trial judge relied heavily on judicial training he had previously received regarding child sexual abuse victims and their behavior toward their abusers. Evidence supporting this theory was not admitted at trial.

The trial judge's reliance on his own theory about the behavior of child sexual abuse victims denied Joel a fair trial by (1) failing to subject this information to the procedural safeguards of ER 201, (2) allowing the trial judge to testify as an expert in a trial over which he was presiding and in which he was the fact finder in violation of ER 605 and 702, and (3) preventing Joel from rebutting the trial judge's own theory with a

¹ Many of the witnesses in this case are family members who share last names. For the sake of clarity, Appellant refers to those persons by their first name. No disrespect is intended.

defense expert. The individual and cumulative effect of these errors requires reversal of the trial court's judgment on all three counts.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The trial court erred in relying upon information that was not submitted into evidence as an exhibit or testimony or through judicial notice.

B. The trial judge erred by testifying in a trial over which he presided in violation of ER 605.

C. The trial judge erred by testifying to subject matter that must be admitted through expert testimony at a trial over which he was presiding.

D. The trial court erred in excluding expert testimony as a sanction for late disclosure.

E. The trial court erred in excluding expert testimony regarding the behavior of child victims of sexual abuse and child abusers as irrelevant to the determination of whether a juvenile had committed three counts of rape of a child.

F. The trial court erred in ruling evidence of the lack of fear or discomfort by child victim of sexual abuse around his abuser was irrelevant to the determination of whether the rapes occurred.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Joel with three counts of first degree rape of a child, alleging the thirteen-year-old had anally raped his nine-year-old male cousin I.G. on June 19, 2011 (Count I), July 7, 2011 (Count II), and sometime between January 2008 and June 2011 (Count III), and with attempted rape of a child in the first degree of his seven-year-old female cousin D.G. (Count IV). (CP 1-3) The State voluntarily dismissed Count IV at trial for lack of sufficient evidence. (VRP 280:25-281:4)

No physical evidence was presented at trial. The only eye witness account of any sexual activity was by I.G.'s younger sister, D.G. Thus, the credibility of D.G., I.G. and Joel was critical to both parties' theories of the case.

To challenge the credibility of D.G. and I.G., the defense submitted exhibits and testimony establishing D.G. and I.G. enjoyed spending time with Joel and continued to seek out Joel (even time alone with Joel) after they made allegations of rape.

A. The allegations of rape were based solely on the testimony of the alleged victims and their mother.

The State's evidence of the three counts consisted of the testimony of I.G., D.G., and their mother Karla Arroyo (Karla), and Deputy Donald Foley's account of his investigation.

1. I.G. and Karla's testimony regarding the June 7, 2011 "spooning" incident was contradictory and at odds with their conduct following the alleged rape.

The State alleged Count II occurred on July 7, 2011, but amended the date to June 7, 2011 at trial. (CP at 1; VRP 296:2-14) Karla testified that on June 7, 2011, Joel spent the night at her home. (VRP 178:14-15; 216:8) Joel and I.G. were sleeping in the same bedroom. (VRP 178:14-19, 179:10-11, 20-25) She entered the room while the boys were asleep and discovered them spooning with their pants down. (VRP 177:25-178:3, 180:12-18) She testified both Joel and I.G. denied any sexual activity occurred. (VRP 164:23-165:3; 178:18)

Although she suspected sexual activity, Karla testified Joel's penis was not erect and she observed nothing wet and no fecal matter on Joel's penis. (VRP 164:11-12; 180:22-181:2) During an interview on July 24, 2011, I.G. told Deputy Foley that the spooning incident on June 7, 2011 was the last time any sexual activity happened between himself and Joel. (CP 7-8) At trial, however, I.G. testified he could not remember whether any rape occurred during the summer of 2011, and that no rape occurred during the spooning incident. (VRP 50:12-14, 107:24-108:11)

Joel testified that he and I.G. were very hot and sweating while they were sleeping that night because Karla kept the heat up very high. (VRP 401:12) Joel woke up because of the heat and removed his pants, leaving his underwear on. (VRP 401:16-18) Joel testified his underwear accidentally slipped down during the night. (VRP 401:18-19) While Joel and I.G. were sleeping, Karla came into the room, turned on the light, and started yelling. (VRP 401:20-23) Joel testified that it looked like he and I.G. were spooning because after he realized his underwear had slipped down, he was "kind of wiggling side by side to get it up because it was so hot, so I couldn't really just straight up, pull it up." (VRP 402:2-5) Joel denied taking any of I.G.'s clothes off. (VRP 23-25) Joel denied any sexual activity occurred on that occasion or at any time. (VRP 404:1-405:2)

Despite her testimony that she had observed the spooning incident on June 7, and had threatened to put Joel in jail (VRP 178: 14-2), Karla testified it was I.G.'s ongoing problem with soiling his pants that led her on June 23, 2011, to ask I.G. whether he had been sexually abused and by whom. (VRP 174:8-18; 175:16-23) On cross examination, however, Karla testified she never thought about the possibility that I.G.'s soiling his pants was related to sexual abuse. (VRP 225:12-18)

During her conversation with I.G., Karla informed I.G. about her experience as a child victim of sexual abuse. (VRP 175:24-175:8) Karla testified that after some prodding, I.G. finally admitted Joel had touched him. (VRP 176:10-13; 177:5-19) I.G. would later testify that Karla told him "like five, six, five to ten times" that she had been sexually abused as a child. (VRP 86:17-20)

Family members testified to conduct by Karla that was inconsistent with her testimony that she had seen Joel and I.G. spooning with their underwear pulled down. Xochitl Arroyo (Xochitl), Karla's sister and Joel's mother, testified that the day of, and immediately after, the alleged spooning incident, Karla took Joel and I.G. to see her brother, allowing them to spent most of the day together. (VRP 388:18-389:4, 17-24) Joel testified that after Karla woke him up on the night of the spooning incident, he had offered to sleep on the couch, but Karla had said he did not need to. (VRP 403:7-15) Joel moved to the couch anyway. (VRP 403:16-17)

Xochitl and Karla and Xochitl's mother, Josephina Arroyo (Josie), testified Karla continued to leave D.G. and I.G. at Josie's home, even though Karla knew Joel lived at the house. (VRP 299:11-22; 301:11-14; 301:21-302:2; 328:21-329:19; 330:5-6; 358:25-359:5; 363:5-7; 367:17-368:8) Karla never told Josie that the children could not be together. (VRP 368:3-5)

2. Although the last rape was alleged to have occurred on June 19, 2011, I.G. made various statements regarding when this may have occurred.

The State argued and the trial court found Count I occurred the last time I.G. had spent the night with Joel at Josie's home, on or about June 19, 2011. (VRP 412:10-13; 449:1-2) During his July 17, 2011 interview with Deputy Foley, however, I.G. stated the last rape occurred the last time Joel had spent the night at I.G.'s home, on June 7, 2011. (CP at 49) At trial, I.G. claimed the last time Joel raped him was the last time I.G. had spent the night at his grandmother Josie's home. (VRP 51:15-18) I.G. testified that this was after the interview with Deputy Foley (VRP 67:17-24) and just a short time before trial, which began July 2, 2012. (VRP 54:2-8) A short time later, I.G. testified the last time might have been when I.G. and Joel were at Karla's home. (VRP 71:24-73:4)

Consistent with I.G.'s testimony that the last time he had spent the night with Joel was shortly before trial, Joel testified he had spent a full day alone with I.G. approximately four months before trial. (VRP 394:25-395:5; 396:19-397:3)

3. No physical or medical evidence, and only questionable eyewitness testimony, corroborated I.G.'s claims that he had been raped "hundreds of times" by Joel between 2008 and June 2011.

I.G. testified that Joel anally raped him "whenever [he] spent the night at grandma's [Josie's] house" and it happened approximately 100 times. (VRP 65:7-17) The only other witness to any of the alleged rapes was D.G. (VRP 146:23-25) D.G. testified the sexual act she had observed had occurred at her grandmother's house, but that she did not remember when it happened. (VRP 147:1-10) I.G., however, denied D.G. was ever in the room during any of the alleged rapes and asserted he would have seen D.G. if she were present. (VRP 111:16-112:4) Joel likewise denied D.G. had ever witnessed any anal intercourse. (VRP 404:19-21)

Joel testified he had never attempted to have anal intercourse with I.G. or touched him in a sexually inappropriate manner. (VRP 404:7-12) Deputy Foley testified that despite his numerous attempts to get Joel to confess to the rapes, Joel denied any inappropriate behavior with I.G. (VRP 255:22-25; 258:11-259:13)

No medical evidence of the alleged rapes was submitted at trial. (VRP 447:25-448:11) Joel's mother Xochitl testified that when Karla first told her of the allegations of rape, she told Karla to take D.G. and I.G. to the emergency room to be examined. (VRP 303:14-22) After Karla reported the alleged rapes to the Columbia County Sheriff's Office, Deputy Foley reported "IG and DG where [sic] were taken to a medical doctor that was recommended by Officer Cooper. Officer Cooper told [Deputy Foley] that she would be able to get the medical records for the prosecuting attorney." (CP at 8) Nevertheless, Deputy Foley never received any medical records regarding I.G. or D.G., and testified he was not sure if I.G. and D.G. were ever taken to a doctor. (VRP 268:5-19)

I.G. testified he had never had any blood in his underwear that he knew of. (VRP 89:20-25; 90:5-8) No evidence was introduced contradicting the lack of any blood. Thus, the State's case was entirely dependent upon the testimony of I.G., D.G., and Karla.

B. The trial court found beyond a reasonable doubt that I.G. exhibited no fear or discomfort around Joel despite the allegations of rape.

The defense theory of the case was that the allegations were not credible in view of the evidence showing I.G. did not express any fear or discomfort toward Joel, but, in fact, continued to seek out Joel's company. (CP 108-10, 148-60) The defense indicated its intent to submit testimony, photographs, and video showing the interaction between I.G., D.G., and Joel after Karla reported the alleged rapes to the Columbia County Sheriff's Office. (CP 108-10) On the first day of trial, the trial judge ruled the photographs showing the interaction between Joel and I.G. would not come in absent the State opening the door. (VRP 26:21-23)

> [T]he photos are not relevant, in the Court's opinion. As I see the Respondent counsel's argument, there's almost an implication that these, however old they were, alleged victims at the time of the alleged crimes, that they knew something wrong was going on, and that's a presumption that's false.

> Little kids don't know it's wrong when they're raped and molested. I'm sorry, I can't take judicial notice of that, but I go to the judge schools, like everybody else, and we get the education conferences and we are taught and learn that they don't know it's wrong, they don't know when things are morally incorrect about it.

> And so that they weren't afraid of or didn't mind being around or absolutely enjoyed Joel's company after either, after the alleged incidents, in technical violation of this Court's order, doesn't really help me decide the case at all.

(VRP 26:22-27:15) The trial court also initially granted the State's motion

to exclude testimony of family members as to the interaction of I.G. and

D.G. with Joel after Karla had reported the alleged rapes to law

enforcement. (VRP 29:4-25) The trial judge reiterated:

And, again, given my training that children rarely know or perceive or comprehend that anything bad or wrong happening [sic]...So that's where I'm coming from. If, how can comfortability [sic] around the accused have any bearing on whether or not the allegations have occurred in the first place, so I do rule the video out, absent some door opening to let it in.

(VRP 31:19-32:6) The trial judge continued to rely on this theory at trial even after I.G. testified he did know something wrong was happening.

At trial, I.G. testified that Joel made him feel uncomfortable when he cussed at I.G. and when Joel allegedly anally raped him. (VRP 47:24-48:7, 49:7-9) I.G. testified it hurt when Joel anally raped him. (VRP 52:4-6) I.G. testified it made him feel "bad" when Joel allegedly tried to put a hanger in I.G.'s buttocks and testified he thought it was a "[b]ad thing, bad thing," and that I.G. knew it was wrong. (VRP 58:12-59:1; 61:1-20). I.G. testified that when he was five-years-old he decided that what Joel was doing was wrong. (VRP 59:16-19; 70:8-10) That was when I.G. told his grandfather what Joel was doing was "grosseros" or "gross." (VRP 59:23-60:17; 70:14-16; 71:11-15) I.G. testified the anal rape felt "[b]ad, gross, disgusting." (VRP 70:5-7) In an interview prior to trial, I.G. claimed the anal rapes left him bruised and in pain. (VRP 88:11-19)

Karla testified, however, that I.G. had never told her he was afraid to be in Joel's presence. (VRP 224:22-24) And, I.G. testified he knew Joel was going to be at their grandmother's home when I.G. was also there for two to three days at Thanksgiving, but I.G. did not mind. (VRP 75:1218; 76:1-3) Although I.G. claimed he did not get along well with Joel,I.G. attributed this to Joel calling him names, not to the alleged rapes.(VRP 78:25:79:7) I.G. denied having any fear of being trapped in a room with Joel. (VRP 116:11-117:10)

I.G. testified he was afraid to even play PlayStation without D.G.'s permission, but would "only be afraid [of Joel] if he trapped [I.G.] in a hospital or a circus...and if he were a clown." (VRP 77:19-21; 78:4-9; 117:13-21) I.G. denied Karla had ever told him that he should not be around Joel. (VRP 14-22)

After the State presented its evidence, the trial court ruled I.G.'s testimony had opened the door "somewhat" to allow testimony by family observations I.G.'s behavior. members regarding their of (VRP 201:11-202:3) Accordingly, the defense presented testimony from family members attesting they never observed I.G. acting reluctant or unhappy to spend time with Joel. (VRP 206:24-207:3-12; 208:19-209:3; 341:9-17) Xochitl testified that even after the allegations were made, I.G. continued to ask for Joel when I.G. came to Josie's home for a visit or to spend the night. (VRP 306:10-23) I.G. and Joel's great-aunt Maria Concepcion Salvadar testified that on Mother's Day 2012, I.G. wanted to leave the restaurant where the family was having dinner, so that he could join Joel who was listening to music alone in a family member's van. (VRP 338:13-339:17)

After the allegations were made, Joel and I.G. continued to play, laugh, and talk together, and I.G. even wanted to get his hair cut like Joel's. (VRP 306:5-9) From the time the allegations were made to the date of trial, Xochitl testified she had never observed I.G. express fear around Joel or any discomfort. (VRP 310:2-9) She took photographs and videos to document D.G. and I.G.'s behavior around Joel after the allegations were made to the police. (VRP 313:7-9; 316:8-11; 332:5-11)

The photographs and video depict Joel, I.G., and D.G. enjoying spending time together. (CP at 126-144) The video records I.G.'s reluctance to leave Josie's home because he wants to stay to play with Joel. (VRP 318:1-4, 13-15) Although the defense asked the trial judge to actually watch the video in order to observe the demeanor of I.G. and his lack of fear, the court refused. (VRP 319:23-320:3; 321:7-9):

Okay, let me just make this observation. I saw no signs of discomfort by [I.G.] during [direct or cross examination].

He never shot eyes to Joel. Joel never gave him a dirty look or anything...

But my point is, I understand you have driven your point home with a Mack truck, that there's been no significant or substantial evidence of fear or not wanting to be around by [I.G.] shown towards Joel. I find that has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

(VRP 320:4-20) Instead of viewing the footage, the trial court sought and accepted the State's stipulation to the content of the videos, stating that the interaction between the alleged victims and abuser "[did not] really mean a whole lot to [the court] because the 18th of July is nearly a month after the last allegation date." (VRP 316:22-317:4, 317:25-318:19, 321:7-9)

Josie testified that I.G had been at her home approximately 100 times since the allegations of sexual abuse. (VRP 358:25-360:11) During those times, I.G. expressed no discomfort about being around Joel. (VRP 361:3-7) "[I.G.] is not afraid of him and he's happy to, to be with Joel." (VRP 362:21-22) Karla confirmed that despite the allegations of anal rape occurring hundreds of times and every time I.G. and Joel spent the night in the same home, I.G. expressed no reluctance to spend time with Joel. (VRP 194:25-195:2)

C. The trial court excluded expert testimony regarding the behavior of child victims of sexual abuse and abusers as irrelevant.

When trial reconvened after a ten-day recess, the defense moved to allow expert testimony from Joel's therapist, Sue Huett, to rebut the trial judge's theory regarding the behavior of child victims of sexual abuse. (VRP 375:18-24) Defense counsel explained the motion was triggered by the State's and court's comments at trial regarding whether sexually abused children display fear or discomfort around their abusers. (VRP 376:5-20)

Previously, the trial court had explained its "company policy on late disclosed potential witnesses...is that the witness must be made available during the break to State's counsel...I'll never exclude her, in all likelihood, unless it's just totally cumulative or something that's totally irrelevant." (VRP 28:15-18, 29:1-3) Defense counsel, therefore, requested Ms. Huett be allowed to testify after the State had had an opportunity to examine her outside the presence of the court and that the State be allowed a continuance if the court deemed it necessary. (VRP 377:11-15)

The court responded:

You know, at the risk of giving a partial advisory opinion, it doesn't matter to me whether he was afraid or not afraid of his cousin.

I am absolutely one hundred percent satisfied that he is absolutely zero threat to the alleged victim in the case when there are other eyes around. The allegations thus far have been it's always at night, it's always when we're alone in a room or after everybody is asleep in a room, that's when it happens, that's the allegation.

(VRP 377:19-378:3) The trial court then acknowledged forbidding Ms. Huett's testimony would be an "extreme measure" and allowed the

State an opportunity to question the witness outside the presence of the court. (VRP 378:11-16)

After questioning Ms. Huett, the State objected on the basis of the defense's failure to timely disclose and relevance. (VRP 379:21-380:25) Mirroring the trial judge's statements, the State argued Ms. Huett's experience with 200 to 250 victims and their abusers was not relevant because it was in a setting where adults were present. (VRP 379:23-380:8) "It's not relevant. As the Court is very much aware, these incidents occurred when no other adults were present." (VRP 380:4-6)

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