AUG 0 8 2013

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

No. 311147-III

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JOEL GONZALEZ,

Appellant.

RESPONSIVE BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO APPEAL

JUNE L. RILEY, CHIEF DEPUTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY WSBA #29198 COLUMBIA COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY OFFICE

116 N. 3rd Street

Dayton, WA 99328

509-382-1197

Contents

. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE5
A. APPELLANT'S THEORY5
B. APPELLANT'S WITNESSES WERE NOT CREDIBLE
C. APPELLANT'S MOTHER AND GRANDMOTHER DISREGARDED THE COURT ORDER PROHIBITING CONTACT IN ORDER TO CREATE EVIDENCE
D. TESTIMONY OF KARLA ARROYO
E. FORENSIC INTERVIEWS
F. TESTIMONY OF I.G

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

The judge explained during the ruling that the evidence was not relevant since it "doesn't really help me decide the case at all." (RP Volume 1 at page 27:14-15). This is not judicial notice but an explanation of a ruling on the motion in limine.

This appeal fails.

b- The citation to the record as cited on page 23 of Appellant's brief is not judicial notice. The judge explained why the "reasonable deduction or inference from the evidence" would not require that I.G. or D.G. show fear in the presence of Appellant at family gatherings. (RP Volume 3 at page 449:14-16). The judge addressed appellant's theory in his findings. Such is not judicial notice, but an explanation. An invited error is not reviewable by the appellate court. *State v.McLoyd*, 87 Wash.App. 66, 939 P.2d 1255 (1997). This appeal fails.

Since the appellant placed in issue the behavior of I.G and D.G. while in the presence of Appellant at family gatherings, he cannot now raise on appeal, as error, the fact that the judge addressed appellant's theory. *Sullins v. Sullins*, 65 Wash.2d 283, 396 P.2d 886 (1964).

4. APPELLANT'S PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT HIS THEORY OF THE CASE SHOWS JUDICIAL NOTICE WAS NOT TAKEN

The purpose of judicial notice is to save time in trial. When judicial notice is taken, the purpose is to allow the court to accept evidence without the foundational requirements. Judicial notice is defined as follows:

A court's acceptance, for purposes of convenience and without requiring a party's proof, of a well-known and indisputable fact; the court's power to accept such a fact.

Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009).

The purpose of judicial notice is to admit evidence without foundational requirements being set forth on the record. If judicial notice had been taken by the court as argued by appellant, the evidence proffered by the appellant as to the lack of fear by I.G. and D.G. would not have been admitted. Judicial notice would have already established the fact in question. If judicial notice is taken of certain facts, the fact is established.

The court would not have heard three days of evidence submitted by Appellant of the lack of fear on the part of I.G. and D.G. (RP Volume 2 at page 298 generally at page 333 generally at page 347 and Volume 3 at page 417). The record is clear, no judicial notice was taken.

5. OBJECTION IS WAIVED ON APPEAL – NO OBJECTION WAS MADE TO JUDGE'S EXPLANATION OF RULINGS AND FINDING.

Appellant did not objected to the explanation provided by the trial judge as being an inappropriate taking of judicial notice. Failure to object to the explanation as judicial notice precludes the appellant from making his specious argument on appeal. Generally, the appellate court does not consider an evidentiary issue raised for the first time on appeal because failure to object deprives the court of the opportunity to prevent or cure any error. *State v. Curtiss*, 250 P.3d 496 (2011).

In *State v. Newbern*, 95 Wash.App. 277, 975 P.2d 1041 (1999) the appellant argued that the trial judge took judicial notice of a scientific basis to admit certain evidence. The appellate court held that because the trial judge did not specifically characterize its ruling as based upon judicial notice and because no objection was made at trial, the issue was not properly before the court. Such is the case herein.

Absence of an objection below deprives the trial court of the opportunity to make a proper record to sustain its observation and precludes appellate review. *Fusato v. Washington Interscholastic Activites Association*, 93 Wash.App. 762, 970 P.2d 774 (1999). Failure to object at trial to supposed judicial notice is a waiver of the right to appeal on that basis. *State v. Sly*, 58 Wash.App. 740, 794 P.2d 1316 (1990). Failure to object is waived on appeal. *State v. Warren*, 55 Wash.App. 645, 779 P.2d 1159 (1989).

a. NO ERROR OF CONSTITUTIONAL MAGNITUDE WAS ARGUED -NONE CAN BE SHOWN

The court will review an error raised for the first time on appeal only if it involves an issue of constitutional magnitude. *State v. Newbern*, 95 Wash.App. 277, 975 P.2d 1041 (1999). The analysis for whether an issue is of constitutional magnitude is set forth in *State v. Grimes*, 165 Wash. App. 172, 185-88, 267 P.3d 454, 461-63 (2011) review denied, 175 Wash. 2d 1010, 287 P.3d 594 (2012).

Three steps are involved in analyzing whether an issue raised for the first time on appeal can benefit from RAP 2.5(a)'s manifest constitutional error exception. The defendant has the initial burden of showing that (1) the error was "truly of constitutional dimension" and (2) the error was "manifest." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d at 98, 217 P.3d 756. A defendant cannot simply assert that an error occurred at trial and label the error "constitutional"; instead, he must identify an error of constitutional magnitude and

show how the alleged error actually affected his rights at trial. *Gordon*, 172 Wash.2d at 676, 260 P.3d 884...

1. Is the Error "Constitutional"?

To determine whether an error is truly of constitutional dimension, appellate courts first look to the asserted claim and assess whether, if the claim is correct, it implicates a constitutional interest as compared to another form of trial error. *O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d at 98, 217 P.3d 756...

2. Is the Error "Manifest"? Did It Have an "Identifiable Consequence"?

"After determining the error is of constitutional magnitude, the appellate court must determine whether the error was manifest." *O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d at 99, 217 P.3d 756. For an error to be "manifest," the defendant must show that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences at trial. *Gordon*, 172 Wash.2d at 676, 260 P.3d 884...

3. Is the Error "Harmless"?

If an alleged error has practical and identifiable consequences, i.e., if it is "manifest" and also of "constitutional magnitude," the reviewing court usually will address the merits of the claim and determine whether, in the context of the entire record, the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d at 99, 217 P.3d 756.

Appellant has not argued that any error of constitutional magnitude has occurred. Thus, there can be no review for the first time on appeal of the judge's explanation of his ruling and later his finding of guilt. The burden is on the appellant. The Appellant cannot base his appeal on

conclusory allegations that an alleged error was of constitutional magnitude. The appellant has failed to meet his burden, this appeal fails.

b. THERE WAS NO CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR

The labeling of the judges explanation of the motion in limine ruling and the finding of guilt as based upon judicial notice is not supported by the record. Appellant has not presented any argument that the judge's rulings involved an error of constitutional magnitude.

Alleging that the rulings were based upon judicial notice does not create an error of constitutional magnitude. The record shows that judicial notice was not part of the ruling or the finding.

c. THERE IS NO IDENTIFIABLE CONSEQUENCE

The appellant has not argued or shown any identifiable consequence. Appellant cannot show error or identifiable consequence because the ruling on the motion in limine and the findings of guilt were based upon properly admitted evidence as set forth in the judge's ruling, oral findings and the findings of fact and conclusions of law. (RP Volume 1 at pages 22-29 and Volume 3 at pages 447-449 and CP 3). This appeal fails.

d. NO ERROR OCCURRED

The ruling on the motion in limine was based upon the Judge's finding that the photos and video were not relevant. Judicial notice was not the basis for the ruling and no error occurred. The finding of guilt was based upon the testimony of I.G., D.G. and their mother, Karla. Judicial notice was not part of the oral findings or the written findings.

(RP Volume 1 at page 26; 21-25 and pages 27 through 29). No error occurred. This appeal fails.

B. THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT TESTIFY OR RELY UPON PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE

Appellant has mischaracterized the explanation by the judge of his ruling on the motion in limine and the finding of guilt as testimony. The trial judge herein did not conduct any independent research and did not base his findings on his own personal knowledge.

The logical extension of appellant's argument is that any explanation of a ruling or finding is testimony by the judge. Such a holding would preclude a judge from providing his/her reasoning for the ruling or finding. A judge should not be precluded from giving an explanation for a ruling or finding.

1. MOTION IN LIMINE - PHOTOS AND VIDEO

The Appellant alleges the judge testified during his ruling on the State's motion in limine. The judge explained that he was granting the motion in limine to exclude the photos and video of I.G. and D.G. in the presence of Appellant at family gatherings. The judge specifically states that the basis for the ruling on the motion in limine is that the photos were not relevant. (RP volume 1 at page 26;21-23). The judge then addresses the Appellant's argument for admission of the photos, and his explanation as to why the appellant's argument does not meet the relevance requirement. (RP volume 1 at page 26;23-25 through page 29 generally). The judge stated that the photos were not helpful to him either way. (RP volume 1 at page 27; 11-15). The ruling on the motion in limine was a ruling on the relevance of the proposed evidence, not testimony.

The judge did not conduct an independent investigation or base his ruling on personal experience with child victims of sexual abuse. The judge said the information was not helpful either way, which means the judge made no finding either way that the photos were conclusive of anything. (RP volume 1 at page 27; 11-15).

Evenso, the judge indicated that he would allow the evidence to come in if the door was opened to show that I.G. and D.G. were afraid of Appellant. (RP volume 1 at page 28; 4-6). The judge did not preclude Appellant from fully arguing his theory of the case or evidence. The Appellant called several witnesses who testified as to the behavior of I.G. and D.G. in Appellant's presence at family gatherings.

2. APPELLANT'S UNDISCLOSED EXPERT WITNESS

The appellant cites on page 27 of Appellant's opening brief the portion of the record where in the judge addresses the state's objection to the request for testimony from an undisclosed expert witness on the final day of fact finding. (RP Volume 3 at page 377; 19-21). The appellant fails to cite the balance of the judge's reasoning wherein he explains that whether I.G. was afraid or not afraid of Appellant, when others were present, was not relevant.

COURT: The allegations thus far have been it's always at night, it's always when we're alone in a room or after everybody is asleep in a room, that's when it happens, that's the allegation.

There is no indication that the judge relied on independent investigation or personal knowledge in making this comment. The judge in fact went on to require the state interview the witness and then allowed

both sides to argue whether she should be allowed to testify. (RP Volume 3 at page 377-378).

The judge explained his ruling on excluding the witness:

COURT: I exclude the testimony of the witness. Again, it's absolutely undisputed in the case that I.G. dearly loves his cousin. Joel. He loves to be around him, he worships the ground he walks on, he looks at him as the older brother he does not have, but he testifies there's something that goes on after dark in closed doors, in private, that he doesn't like at all.

But that during the daytime, he pleases him. He does things, interact, be able to interact, he loves being around him. That is undisputed in the record. I don't need an expert to tell me that.

The judge did not conduct any independent investigation or base his decision on personal knowledge. The judge's explanation does not include any of the errors alleged. The judge specifically cites testimony which was presented to the court during the fact finding. That is the only reference and the only basis for the court's decision.

3. FINDING OF GUILT

The appellant alleges the judge's finding of guilt was based upon judicial notice. (RP Volume 3 at page 449; 4-17). The judge states that his finding is based upon the testimony presented to the court during the fact finding and the reasonable deduction or inference from the evidence. No error occurred.

COURT: He testified it happened every time, upwards of 100 times, but minimal testimony was that even from Joel's (Appellant) testimony, he was, he spent the night with him at least twice a month, and from Karla's testimony, it was upwards of four to eight times a month, and as far as the lack of fear by someone who is 4 to 8 years old or 5 to 9 years old, if something has become so commonplace that it happens every time you spend the night with somebody, you may not like it, it may not geel good, but who says you're going to be afraid of it?

You just know it's coming. I mean, I think the evidence, as a reasonable deduction or inference from the evidence, why would you be afraid of it? I mean it's just commonplace. He reported it to one adult and nothing ever happened, the grandpa or whatever.

He reported it to one adult and he was poo-pooed away, brushed aside with trying to make the disclosure.

(RP Volume 3 at page 449;4-21)

The cases relied upon by appellant, *Elston* and *Lewis*, are distinguishable and not applicable to the facts herein. In *Elston v*.

McGlauflin, 79 Wash. 355, 140 P. 396 (1914), the judge went to the location in question and viewed the premises without consent of the parties. The judge disregarded the defendant's evidence and made his inspection and observation an integral part of his judgment. (*Id.* at page 359). No such thing occurred herein. The trial judge, in this matter, specifically based his rulings and findings on the evidence presented, as set forth above. The *Elston* case in not applicable.

In *United States of America v. Lewis*, 833 F.2d 1380 (1987), the trial judge based his ruling on a motion to suppress on his own personal

experience of anesthesia. The *Lewis* judge did not cite to any evidence in his ruling, only to his own experience. This matter is completely opposite. The trial judge herein based his rulings and findings only on the evidence presented, as he stated in his explanation. (RP Volume 1 pages 26 through 29 and Volume 3 pages 447 through 449) and (CP 3).

The appellant cannot cite to any portion of the record herein where the judge states that his rulings or findings are based upon an independent investigation he conducted or upon his personal experience with child victims of sexual abuse.

4. THE JUDGE CONSIDERED ALL EVIDENCE PRESENTED

The Appellant presented evidence of the lack of fear on the part of I.G. and D.G. while in Appellant's presence through testimony of his witnesses, and through cross-examination of the state's witnesses. (Se generally the testimony of Karal Arroyo, Xochitl Arroyo, Maria Saldivar, Josie Arroyo and Maria Conception Saldivar). The appellant was able to fully argue his theory that the lack of fear of I.G. and D.G. was evidence that no rapes occurred. (Id). The judge weighed all of the evidence and his rulings and findings as set forth above were based solely on the evidence presented and the reasonable inferences therefrom. (RP Volume 1, at page 26; 21-25 through 29; 1-25 and Volume 3 at page 446 through 449). The

judge is presumed to consider only the properly admissible evidence. *State* v. *Read*, 147 Wash.2d, 238, 53 P.3d 26 (2002).

A judge is permitted to provide explanation of their rulings. *State v. Brown*, 19 Wash.2d 195, 142 P.2d 257 (1943), *State v. Whetstone*, 30 Wash.2d 301, 191 P.2d 818 (1948).

C. EXCLUSION OF APPELLANT'S UNDISCLOSED EXPERT WITNESS WAS PROPER

On the last day of fact finding, the Appellant sought to present testimony from his counselor. Appellant argued that his lack of confession to his counselor was relevant. Appellant also argued that Ms. Huett could testify that the lack of obvious fear by I.G. and D.G. proved the rapes did not occur. (RP Volume 3, at page 383; 3-10 and 382; 5-11).

1. HUTCHINSON FACTORS

Even though the factors were not raised by appellant at fact finding, and objection is therefore waived on appeal, the analysis of the factors shows that exclusion of the witness was proper. Admission of the undisclosed expert testimony would have been reversible error.

The *Hutchinson* factors, as set forth in *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wash.2d 863, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998), weigh in favor of exclusion.

The court sets out the factors as follows:

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